THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-002114  
Civil Action No. 2018-CP-23-01639

---

5Star Life Insurance Co..... Appellant,

v.

Peek Performance, Inc..... Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH, LLP

William S. Brown  
Miles E. Coleman  
David C. Dill  
Post Office Box 10084  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 250-2300

*Attorneys for Appellant*

**RECEIVED**  
JUN 28 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

## INTRODUCTION

Appellant 5Star Life Insurance Co. (“5Star”) provides life insurance primarily to military and first responders’ families. In 2016, 5Star learned it had inadvertently paid unearned commissions to Peek Performance, Inc. (“Peek”), a marketing and recruiting agency. When Peek refused to return the unearned commissions, 5Star sued to recover them. Peek’s Answer to this suit did not dispute it owed the money, but instead offered a lengthy explanation—styled as a “counterclaim”—of why it was supposedly unable to repay the funds. 5Star did not timely respond to the purported “counterclaim,” and Peek sought a default judgment. Without first entering default, and without holding a hearing to determine what, if any relief, was warranted, the trial judge awarded a default judgment against 5Star on two causes of action he divined in Peek’s pleading.

The trial court’s judgment erred in at least five ways, any one of which warrants reversal. *First*, there was no viable claim upon which to enter judgment. The supposed “counterclaim” was merely a recitation of facts that did not assert any cause of action and which failed to plead a *prima facie* claim for the causes of action on which the trial court entered judgment. Peek may have pled an affirmative defense (to which no responsive pleading was required), but it did not assert a plausible counterclaim. *Second*, even if Peek had pled a viable counterclaim (which it did not), the trial court erred by awarding a default judgment without first entering default—a procedural error that prejudiced 5Star. *Third*, even if there was a viable counterclaim on which default had been entered, judgment was improper without first holding a damages hearing. *Fourth*, the trial court applied the wrong legal standard to 5Star’s motion to set aside the entry of default and/or default judgment. And *fifth*, the trial court failed to consider or apply Virginia law.

In addition, the trial court erred by compelling 5Star to respond to Peek’s discovery requests. Peek had not filed a motion to compel discovery, the issue had not been briefed to the trial court, and the court had no basis upon which to make an informed decision to compel responses to the discovery requests. Accordingly, and for the additional reasons explained more fully below, the trial court’s rulings should be reversed, the entry of default and the default judgment should be set aside, and the discovery ruling should be vacated.

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err by awarding a default judgment on a supposed “counterclaim” that did not set forth a claim to which a responsive pleading was required and that did not plead a *prima facie* claim upon which relief could be granted?
2. Did the trial court err by awarding a default judgment without first entering an entry of default?
3. Did the trial court err by awarding a default judgment without first holding a hearing or otherwise determining what, if any, relief to award?
4. Did the trial court err by applying the wrong legal standard to 5Star’s motion to set aside the entry of default or to set aside the default judgment?
5. Did the trial court err by compelling discovery responses when there had been no motion requesting such relief, when the issue had not been briefed, and when the court had no basis upon which to make an informed analysis of the discovery dispute?
6. Did the trial court err by failing to consider and apply Virginia law as required by the contract governing disputes between 5Star and Peek?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS<sup>1</sup>

5Star provides life insurance to military and first responders’ families as the insurance underwriting enterprise of the nonprofit Armed Forces Benefit Association. In 2013, 5Star contracted with Peek, an insurance marketing and recruiting agency, to procure applications for life insurance policies for 5Star. *See* Compl. at Ex. A (the “Contract”) § 3 (R. pp. 37–50). The relationship between the 5Star and Peek was governed by a contract. *See* Compl. ¶ 3 (R. p. 35) (referring to and incorporating the terms of the Contract, which was attached to the Complaint); Contract (R. pp. 37–50).

---

<sup>1</sup> Because the relevant facts are so closely tied to the procedural history, 5Star consolidates the Statement of the Case and the Statement of the Facts under a single heading.

In 2016, 5Star learned it had inadvertently paid Peek \$109,515.81 in commissions Peek had not earned. *See* Compl. ¶ 6 (R. p. 35); 5Star’s Opp. to Mot. for Entry of Default J. at 1 (R. p. 85). The parties’ contract gives 5Star the exclusive right to decide and settle all disputes regarding commissions, and it requires Peek to pay all debts owed to 5Star at any time on demand. *See* Contract at §§ 9 and 16 (R. pp. 38–39). When 5Star sought repayment of the unearned commissions, however, Peek declined to repay the amounts owed. *See* Compl. ¶ 4 (R. p. 35). Accordingly, 5Star filed this action on March 19, 2018 to recover the funds. *See* Compl. (R. pp. 34–50).

Peek electronically filed an Answer unusually early, on March 29, 2018, twenty days before its deadline to respond. *See* Answer (R. pp. 51–61). Peek’s Answer admits the parties’ contract is valid, affirms its terms, and admits 5Star inadvertently paid Peek unearned commissions. *See* Answer at ¶¶ 3 and 54 (R. pp. 51 and 58). Peek contends, however, in a lengthy factual recitation, that it should not have to repay the commissions based upon conduct by its former business partners or by 5Star. *See id.* at ¶¶ 9–68 (R. pp. 51–61).<sup>2</sup> The explanation in Peek’s Answer is strikingly similar to the factual allegations in the Complaint Peek filed against its former business partners.<sup>3</sup> Even though this section of Peek’s Answer is comprised almost exclusively of factual allegations, Peek labels it a “counterclaim.” *See* Answer at ¶ 9 (R. p. 51). The

---

<sup>2</sup> Peek is in a dispute with its former business partners and had previously filed a suit against them in a case captioned *Peek Performance, Inc. and D. Clayton Peek v. Jeff Wright d/b/a Agent Sales Group, Joe Caldwell, Nathan Wells, Jeff Magg, and Consolidated Assurance, LLC*, C.A. No. 2017-CP-23-03269 (Greenville Cnty. Ct. of Comm. Pleas). That suit was consolidated with the instant proceeding by order on June 28, 2018 (R. pp. 1-5).

<sup>3</sup> Indeed, of the 60 paragraphs in Peek’s explanation, 56 of them are copied nearly verbatim from the fact section of Peek’s prior Complaint. *Compare* Answer at ¶¶ 9–64 (R. pp. 51–60) *with* Peek’s Complaint in *Peek Performance, Inc., et al. v. Jeff Wright, et al.* at ¶¶ 2–59 (R. pp. 21–30).

“counterclaim,” however, fails to plead the elements of any cause of action or to identify or assert any cause of action. *See id.* at ¶¶ 9–68 (R. pp. 51–61).<sup>4</sup>

Peek filed and served its Answer via the South Carolina state court e-filing system. Assuming *arguendo* that Peek’s Answer did, in fact, assert a counterclaim (which is an assumption 5Star disputed below and continues to dispute on appeal), 5Star’s reply was due by May 3, 2018. *See* Rule 12(a), SCRCP (“The plaintiff shall serve his reply to a counterclaim in the answer within 30 days after service of the answer.”); Guideline 4(e)(4), South Carolina Electronic Filing Policies and Guidelines (noting that service by electronic filing provides five additional days for response).

5Star did not respond to Peek’s purported counterclaim by May 3, 2018. 5Star’s original counsel, Amanda Scott of the Alabama law firm, Parnell & Parnell, P.A., later explained she is a Richland County resident whose practice focuses on debt collections in the Midlands. *See* September Order at 4 (R. p. 9). Due to the nature of her practice, Ms. Scott’s cases are typically uncontested. *Id.* Ms. Scott was unfamiliar with the e-filing system when Peek filed its Answer because e-filing had only begun in her home county three weeks prior. *See* Scott Aff. ¶¶ 1, 3 (R. p. 99). Ms. Scott did not know that counterclaims could be served electronically—she thought personal service was required—and she does not recall seeing an e-file notice for the Answer. *See id.* ¶ 6 (R. p. 100).

Shortly after the reply to any counterclaim would have been due, Peek filed a Notice of Default, Affidavit of Default, and what it styled as a “Motion for Entry of Default Judgment.” *See* Notice, Affidavit, and Motion, May 10, 2018 (R. pp. 70–72, 73–76, and 66–69). 5Star’s then-counsel filed a Reply to the purported counterclaim on May 17, 2018. *See* Reply (R. pp. 62–65).

---

<sup>4</sup> In contrast, Peek’s prior complaint includes 27 additional paragraphs expressly asserting six causes of action and reciting the elements of each of them. *See* Complaint in *Peek Performance, Inc., et al. v. Jeff Wright, et al.* at ¶¶ 60–87 (R. pp. 30–32).

A third party subsequently informed 5Star of Peek's pending Motion. 5Star quickly retained new counsel. A hearing was scheduled for August 28, 2018. Because no entry of default had yet been entered in the case, 5Star's new counsel submitted a Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion for Entry of Default on August 17, 2018. *See* Mem. in Opposition (R. pp. 85–133). Peek filed a reply memorandum on August 27, 2018. *See* Reply (R. pp. 134–142). Peek also purported to serve an untimely supporting affidavit at 4:30 p.m. on August 27, 2018. *See* Affidavit (R. pp. 143–49).

The next morning, August 28, 2018, the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper conducted a hearing on Peek's Motion. *See* Transcript, Aug. 28, 2018 (R. pp. 331–57). Peek did not introduce any evidence at the hearing. In an Order entered on September 13, 2018, the trial court entered default, granted a default judgment, and ordered 5Star to “respond promptly and fully to [Peek's] discovery requests.”<sup>5</sup> *See* Order, Sept. 13, 2018 (R. pp. 6–14) (the “September Order”).

5Star timely filed a motion asking the trial court (1) to reconsider, vacate, or amend the September Order pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCP, (2) to set aside the entry of default pursuant to Rule 55, SCRCP, and (3) to grant relief from default judgment pursuant to Rule 60, SCRCP. *See* Motion, Sept. 24, 2018 (R. pp. 150–52). The trial court, without a hearing, denied the motion by an Order dated October 29, 2018. *See* Order, Oct. 29, 2018 (R. pp. 15–17) (the “October Order”).

5Star timely appealed the September and October Orders. The Court of Appeals subsequently requested memoranda addressing the Orders' appealability, and, after receiving and considering the parties' memoranda, agreed it would consider and rule on the propriety of both the September and October Orders. *See* Clerk's letter, Feb. 1, 2019 (R. pp. 383–84).

---

<sup>5</sup> Peek had not filed a motion to compel discovery.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The “decision whether to set aside an entry of default or a default judgment lies solely within the sound discretion of the trial judge.” *Roberson v. S. Fin. of S.C., Inc.*, 365 S.C. 6, 9–10, 615 S.E.2d 112, 114 (2005). Likewise, “[a] trial court judge’s rulings on discovery matters will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion.” *Dunn v. Dunn*, 298 S.C. 499, 502, 381 S.E.2d 734, 735 (1989).

“An abuse of discretion arises where the judgment is controlled by an error of law or is based on factual conclusions that are without evidentiary support.” *Williams v. Watkins*, 384 S.C. 319, 324, 681 S.E.2d 914, 916 (Ct. App. 2009); *see also, e.g., Dunn v. Dunn*, 298 S.C. 499, 502, 381 S.E.2d 734, 735 (1989) (“An ‘abuse of discretion’ may be found by this Court where the appellant shows that the conclusion reached by the lower court was without reasonable factual support, resulted in prejudice to the right of appellant, and, therefore, amounted to an error of law.”). “It is an equal abuse of discretion to refuse to exercise discretionary authority when it is warranted as it is to exercise the discretion improperly.” *State v. Smith*, 276 S.C. 494, 498, 280 S.E.2d 200, 202 (1981).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The trial court erred by entering default and awarding default judgment when there was no claim to which a responsive pleading was required.**

The trial court erred and abused its discretion by entering default and awarding a default judgment when there was no viable claim to which a response was required, and the trial court compounded its error by refusing to set aside the entry of default or to grant 5Star relief from the default judgment.

**A. Peek’s allegations, which do not assert any cause of action or plead the requisite elements of a cause of action, are not a counterclaim.**

The law is clear that regardless of how an Answer or portion thereof is labeled or captioned, it is the *substance* of the allegations that determine its nature and whether a response is required. *See, e.g.*, Rule 8(c), SCRCP (“When a party has mistakenly designated a defense as a counterclaim or a counterclaim as a defense, the court shall treat the pleading as if there had been a proper designation.”); *see also Cahill v. New York, N. H. & H. R. Co.*, 351 U.S. 183, 188 (1956) (“The substance of the pleadings and not their labels should govern our action.”).

The *substance* of Peek’s allegations—rather than their label—reveal Peek has not asserted a claim to which a response is required. Although Peek denominated a section of its Answer as a “counterclaim,” neither in that section nor anywhere else in its Answer did Peek assert a single cause of action. The trial court purported to discern causes of action for breach of contract and defamation, *see* September Order at 6 (R. p. 11), but that is error when the Answer failed even to recite, much less plead the existence of, the requisite elements of those claims.

Peek’s Answer fails to plead a claim of breach of contract. “The elements for a breach of contract are the existence of a contract, its breach, and damages caused by such breach.” *S. Glass & Plastics Co. v. Kemper*, 399 S.C. 483, 491–92, 732 S.E.2d 205, 209 (Ct. App. 2012); *Filak v. George*, 594 S.E.2d 610, 614 (Va. 2004) (“The elements of a breach of contract action are (1) a legally enforceable obligation of a defendant to a plaintiff; (2) the defendant's violation or breach of that obligation; and (3) injury or damage to the plaintiff caused by the breach of obligation.”).<sup>6</sup> “However, one who seeks to recover damages for breach of a contract must demonstrate that he

---

<sup>6</sup> As discussed in Section VI, *infra*, the contract at issue was governed by Virginia law, *see* Compl. at Ex. A (Contract § 18) (R. p. 39), and the trial court also erred by failing to consider Virginia law as required by the contract.

has performed his part of the contract, or at least that he was, at the appropriate time, able, ready, and willing to perform.” *Hotel & Motel Holdings, LLC v. BJC Enterprises, LLC*, 414 S.C. 635, 652, 780 S.E.2d 263, 272-73 (Ct. App. 2015).

Peek’s Answer fails to state a cause of action for breach of contract because it does not allege any contractual provision violated by 5Star. Peek likewise fails to allege the actual breach by 5Star. To the extent Peek alleges breach because 5Star demanded repayment of commissions, the terms of the contract which were attached to the Complaint, admitted in the Answer, and incorporated into the Answer by reference at Paragraph 3 acknowledge that 5Star had the authority to “decide and settle” all “disputed commissions” and its decision “shall be binding and conclusive.” *See* Compl. at Ex. A (Contract § 9) (R. p. 38). Thus, any decision by 5Star as to commissions was authorized by the contract and could not constitute breach. Likewise the contract gives 5Star the “right to withhold commissions payable at its sole discretion and in certain circumstances.” *Id.* at Contract § 8 ( R. pp. 37–38). Further, to the extent any purported breach was based on the transfer of agents outside of Peek’s commission hierarchy, the contract gives 5Star the power to transfer agents at its own discretion. *Id.* at Contract § 6 (R. p. 37) (granting 5Star power “at any time to terminate or amend any Schedule of Commission”). Peek also fails to allege that it was able, ready, and willing to perform at the appropriate time.

Peek’s Answer likewise fails to plead a claim of defamation. “To recover for defamation, the plaintiff must establish by a preponderance of the evidence, that there was (1) a false and defamatory statement by the defendant concerning the plaintiff; (2) an unprivileged communication; (3) fault on the defendant’s part in publishing the statement; and (4) either actionability of the statement irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm to the plaintiff caused by the publication.” *Parrish v. Allison*, 376 S.C. 308, 320, 656 S.E.2d 382, 388

(Ct. App. 2007); *see also Jordan v. Kollman*, 612 S.E.2d 203, 206 (Va. 2005) (“In Virginia, the elements of libel are (1) publication of (2) an actionable statement with (3) the requisite intent. To be actionable, the statement must be both false and defamatory. True statements do not support a cause of action for defamation. Further, statements of opinion are generally not actionable because such statements cannot be objectively characterized as true or false[.]”)

Peek failed to allege facts sufficient to establish the elements of defamation. Peek does not allege the contents of any defamatory statement or when/where/how such statement was made. Peek also fails to allege facts sufficient to show the falsity of any such statement as the terms of the contract incorporated into the Answer by reference at Paragraph 3 expressly gives 5Star the power to require Peek to repay commissions and therefore if 5Star deems Peek to owe commissions such a determination is conclusively established and cannot be false. Peek also fails to allege any fault by 5Star in making any statement and does not allege any actual malice. Finally, Peek fails to allege with particularity any special harm expressly caused by any publication.

The Trial Court erred by entering the September Order without finding that that Peek, as required, stated a *prima facie* claim, and because Peek’s purported counterclaim does not state a *prima facie* claim. Accordingly, the September Order was an abuse of discretion as default judgment cannot be entered when there is not a *prima facie* claim.<sup>7</sup>

---

<sup>7</sup> As explained in Section I.D, *infra*, this Court has previously held that when a pleading fails to state a cause of action, the entry of default and award of default judgment are impermissible, reversible errors. *See Masters v. Rodgers Dev. Group, S.C.*, 283 S.C. 251, 254, 321 S.E.2d 194, 196 (Ct. App. 1984); *Mut. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. McKenzie*, 274 S.C. 630, 632, 266 S.E.2d 423, 424 (1980); *see also* Alex Sanders and John S. Nichols, *Trial Handbook for S.C. Lawyers* § 4.18 (Sept. 2018 update).

**B. At most, Peek’s allegations constitute an affirmative defense to which no responsive pleading is required.**

Had the trial court examined the Answer at issue, it would have found that the purported counterclaim was actually an affirmative defense. Peek admitted in its Answer that it entered the contract with 5 Star. *See* Answer ¶ 3 (R. p. 51). It blamed its failure to repay the unearned commissions on breaches of contract by 5Star or the prior breaches of contract and/or tortious conduct by third parties. *See, e.g., id.* at ¶¶ 9–68 (R. pp. 51–61). Peek alleges it breached the contract because 5Star approached it to repay the unearned commissions after the intervening conduct caused its “remaining commission stream [to be] inadequate to repay the alleged debit balance in a timely manner.” *Id.* ¶ 60 (R. p. 59). These allegations constitute an affirmative defense.

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