THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas, 13th Judicial Circuit
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-002114

RECEIVED
MAY 13 2019
SC Court of Appeals

5Star Life Insurance Co., Appellant,

v.

Peek Performance, Inc., Respondent

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

James G. Carpenter, S.C. Bar No. 1136
THE CARPENTER LAW FIRM, PC
819 E. North Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 235-1269
Attorney for Respondent

Other Counsel of Record:

William S. Brown
Miles E. Coleman
David C. Dill
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
Post Office Box 10084
Greenville, SC 29613-0084
(864) 250-2300

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE ORDERS ARE NOT IMMEDIATELY APPEALABLE.

The Circuit Court denied 5Star's Motion to Set Aside the Entry of Default under Rule 55(c). Order entered September 13, 2018. 5Star then moved for reconsideration of that Order, which the Circuit Court also denied. Order entered October 29, 2018.

A. The Denial of a Rule 55(c) Motion is not Immediately Appealable.

South Carolina courts have ruled, “[T]he grant or denial of a Rule 55(c) motion is not directly appealable under S.C.Code Ann. § 14–3–330 (1976).” *Jefferson by Johnson v. Genes Used Cars, Inc.*, 295 S.C. 317, 368 S.E.2d 456 (1988). *See also, Thynes v. Lloyd*, 294 S.Ct. 152, 363 S.E.2d 122 (1987) (the **denial** of a Rule 55(c) motion for relief from entry of default is not directly appealable); *Ateyeh v. United of Omaha Life Ins. Co.*, 293 S.C. 436, 361 S.E.2d 340 (Ct.App.1987) (the **granting** of a Rule 55(c) motion is not directly appealable). *North Carolina Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. Twin States Dev. Corp.*, 289 S.C. 480, 347 S.E.2d 97 (1986).

Appellant 5Star acknowledges this legal difficulty in footnote 2 in the Notice of Appeal: “[T]his ruling would not, if standing alone, be susceptible to an immediate appeal.” Appellant then asserts, or implies, that “there is an appealable issue before the court.” Notice of Appeal, p. 1, n. 2. 5Star argues that because it cited Rule 60 in its motion to reconsider the denial of the rule 55(c) motion, the second order denying 5Star's motion thereby becomes appealable. 5Star cites three cases. Two of the cases cited by 5Star addressed a Rule 60 motion after a final judgment, thereby complying with the final judgment rule. *Winesett v. Winesett*, 287 S.C. 332, 338 S.E. 2d 340 (1985) (“family court order terminating Respondent's obligation to pay alimony to appellant); *Ex parte Sadisco*

of Greenville, Inc. v. Greenville Cnty. Bd. of Zoning Appeals, 340 S.C. 57, 530 S.E.2d 383 (2000) (Circuit Court dismissed an appeal from the Board of Zoning Appeals for failure to timely file and serve the Notice of Appeal). Neither case was an interlocutory appeal. The appeal in the case at bar is interlocutory. No final judgment has been entered.

5Star also cited a case with facts much more analogous to the case at bar. *Thynes v. Lloyd*. Instead of supporting 5Star's argument, this holding and its reasoning support the argument of PPI.

Respondent Jeanette F. Thynes commenced this action against appellant Dwayne Furman Lloyd by filing and serving a summons and complaint. More than thirty days thereafter, Mrs. Thynes filed an affidavit stating that Mr. Lloyd had failed to answer or otherwise respond to the complaint as required by the Rules. After this affidavit was filed, Mr. Lloyd filed and attempted to serve a pleading which he styled "Amended Answer." Mrs. Thynes refused to accept service. Mr. Lloyd then filed and served a **motion "requesting** a ruling that the appellant was not in default or in the alternative that any **entry of default be set aside** pursuant to South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure 55(c) or in the alternative that time for answering be extended pursuant to South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure 6(b)." **The Circuit Court denied the motion**. Mr. Lloyd appeals. **No final judgment has been entered** in the case.

Rule 55(a) provides: "When a party against whom a judgment for affirmative relief is sought has failed to plead or otherwise defend as provided by these rules and that fact is made to appear by affidavit or otherwise, the clerk shall enter his default upon the calendar (file book)." It does not appear that the clerk actually entered default in the instant case. However, **whether default was actually entered is of no consequence since the entry of default is a purely ministerial act** which the clerk was required to perform once the default was made to appear by the affidavit of Mrs. Thynes.

Rule 55(c) allows the Circuit Court to grant relief from the entry of default. In addition to seeking this relief explicitly, Mr. Lloyd sought, in the alternative, a ruling that he was not in default or a ruling extending the time for him to answer. A ruling that Mr. Lloyd was not in default would obviously be the same as granting him relief from the entry of default. A ruling extending the time for Mr. Lloyd to answer would necessarily require granting him relief from the entry of default. Thus, **it is clear that the motion of Mr. Lloyd was a motion under Rule 55(c)**.

Rule 60(b) allows the Circuit Court to grant relief from a **final judgment**. Since **no final judgment has been entered**, it is equally clear that **the motion of Mr. Lloyd was not a motion under Rule 60(b)**.

Id., 294 S.C. 152, 153-54, 363 S.E.2d 122-23 (1987). Similarly, in the case at bar, no final judgment has been entered, and despite 5Star's attempts to cite Rule 60, 5Star's motions—both its initial motion and the motion to reconsider—are motions under Rule 55. Accordingly, the denial of these motions is not appealable.

5Star seems to **admit** that these Orders are **not final orders**. “[D]amages have not been determined.” Appellant’s Memorandum Regarding the Appealability of the Orders Challenged on Appeal, p. 4.

Ordinarily, an order must be a final order before it can be appealed. “Appeal may be taken, as provided by law, from any **final judgment**, appealable order or decision.” South Carolina Appellate Court Rule 201. Similarly Rule 72 states, “Appeal to be taken, as provided by law, from any **final judgment** or appealable order.” SCRCP 72. South Carolina’s final judgment rule provides that, with few exceptions, an appeal lies only from a final judgment. *See North Carolina Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. Twin States Dev. Corp.*, 289 S.C. 480, 347 S.E.2d 97 (1986); *Jefferson by Johnson v. Gene’s Used Cars, Inc.*, 295 S.C. 317, 368 S.E.2d 456 (1988).

These Orders from which appeal is taken are not final orders and are not appealable. The Order entered September 13, 2018, was a denial of 5Star’s Motion under Rule 55(c). Order entered September 13, 2018. The Order entered October 29, 2018, was the denial of 5Star’s Motion under Rule 59(e) asking the Court to reconsider the denial of its Motion under Rule 55(c). Order entered October 29, 2018. The Court has made no award of damages. Indeed, the parties need to complete Discovery, which has barely begun.

Accordingly, the orders which 5Star appeals are not final orders, and they are not immediately appealable.

B. The Court Should Avoid Piecemeal Litigation.

The Court of Appeals provided a lengthy discussion of the appealability of interlocutory orders like the one in the case at bar. Piecemeal litigation, including piecemeal appeals are to be avoided.

“The provisions of [s]ection 14–3–330, including subsection (2), have been narrowly construed and immediate appeal of various orders issued before or during trial generally has not been allowed. Piecemeal appeals should be avoided and most errors can be corrected by the remedy of a new trial.” *Hagood v. Sommerville*, 362 S.C. 191, 196, 607 S.E.2d 707, 709 (2005). “The basic policy behind denying immediate review of pretrial motions is avoidance of piecemeal litigation where the rights of the parties have not been substantially impacted.” *Breland v. Love Chevrolet Olds, Inc.*, 339 S.C. 89, 94, 529 S.E.2d 11, 13 (2000).

Watson v. Underwood, 407 S.C. 443, 458, 756 S.E.2d 155, 163 (Ct. App. 2014). A Circuit Court’s Order of Reference was not immediately available. “The basic policy behind denying immediate review of pretrial motions is avoidance of piecemeal litigation where the rights of the parties have not been substantially impacted.” *Breland v. Love Chevrolet Olds, Inc.*, 339 S.C. 89, 94, 529 S.E.2d 11, 13 (2000).

5Star cites *Hite v. Thomas & Howard Co*, 305 S.C. 358, 409 S.E.2d 340 (1991) in support of its motion, but in *Huntley v. Young*, 319 S.C. 559, 462 S.E.2d 860 (1995), the Supreme Court explicitly overruled *Hite v. Thomas & Howard Co*.

Although generally the denial of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion is not directly appealable, we have allowed an appeal in cases such as this where the issue is whether a claim is properly asserted as a direct action or as a shareholder’s derivative action. Compare *Moyd v. Johnson*, 289 S.C. 482, 347 S.E.2d 97 (1986) with *Hite v. Thomas & Howard Co.*, 305 S.C. 358, 409 S.E.2d 340 (1991). **We now reconsider *Hite*, and overrule it** to the extent it holds this type of order is directly appealable.

319 S.C. 559, 560, 462 S.E.2d 860 (1995) (emphasis added).

C. Other Claims in This Action Continue in the Circuit Court.

While these issues are on appeal, other claims in the same litigation continue in the Circuit Court. This ongoing litigation demonstrates that the orders from which 5Star appeals are not final orders. First, 5Star's original claims against PPI continue in the Circuit Court, unabated. Second, this case was joined with Civil Action No. 2017-CP-23-03269, and all those similar claims against the other Defendants continue. Order entered June 28, 2018. Those claims overlap extensively with the facts of the Counterclaim. Furthermore, all parties agree that they must complete discovery before the Court may quantify damages against 5Star and make an award on the Counterclaims, and all parties further agree that 5Star possesses virtually all of the relevant documents and records related to both cases. Nevertheless, for months 5Star has resisted production of relevant and necessary documents. Appellant's Memo, p. 8.

For all these reasons, neither the Order denying the Rule 55(c) Motion for Relief from the Entry of Default, nor the Order denying the Motion to Reconsider the prior order is immediately appealable. Neither is a final order, and the litigation continues in the Circuit Court. Accordingly, this Court should dismiss this appeal.

II. THE ENTRY OF DEFAULT WAS PROPER.

If this Court determines to rule on the merits of the appeal, the facts of the case demonstrate that the Entry of Default and the denial of the Motion for Relief from Entry of Default were proper rulings, well supported by the evidence, and well within the discretion of the Circuit Court.

A. PPI Pled Proper Counterclaims.

5Star contends that PPI's Answer asserted only affirmative defenses and not counterclaims. Brief of the Appellant, pp. 9-10. The Circuit Court properly rejected that argument, and 5Star has given no basis to overturn this ruling. 5Star relies on Rule 8: "When a party has mistakenly designated a defense as a counterclaim or a counterclaim as a defense, the court shall treat the pleading as if there had been a proper designation." SCACR 8(c).

A more relevant and more important Rule for this issue is Rule 8(a). It sets out in detail what is necessary to plead a claim for relief:

(a) Claims for Relief. A pleading which sets forth a cause of action, whether an original claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim, shall contain (1) short and plain statement of the grounds including facts and statutes upon which the court's jurisdiction depends, unless the court already has jurisdiction to support it, (2) a short and plain statement of the facts showing that the pleader is entitled to relief, and (3) a prayer or demand for judgment for the relief to which he deems himself entitled.

Id. (emphasis added). PPI's counterclaims include all three elements. (1) The circuit court already possessed jurisdiction by virtue of 5Star's claim against PPI. (2) As demonstrated below, PPI sufficiently stated facts showing that PPI is entitled to relief. (3) PPI included a prayer for relief and demand for judgment. Accordingly, PPI's allegations are properly denominated Counterclaims, and the Counterclaims allege, in significant detail, claims for breach of contract and defamation, not merely affirmative defenses.

The Prayer for Relief on the Counterclaim requests damages against 5Star, far above the \$109,000 that 5Star claims against PPI:

WHEREFORE, Defendant prays the Court for **an award of actual damages**, pre-judgment interest, post-judgment interest, costs, attorneys' fees, for **appropriate equitable relief** causing Defendant to be reinserted into the hierarchy in which he belongs, provide contact information on clients and prospects from the First Responder marketing program, all client

personal data for resale to other life and ancillary plans, and grant such **other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.**

Answer and Counterclaim, Prayer for Relief (emphasis added). These pleadings state valid legal and equitable claims, not just affirmative defenses.

B. The Counterclaims Stated Facts to Support the Claims.

5Star argues that the Counterclaims failed to state a cause of action. The Circuit Court properly found that the Counterclaims stated causes of action for breach of contract and defamation.

1. PPI Pled Breach of Contract.

The Complaint included a copy of the contract between 5Star and PPI. Complaint. The Counterclaim described the history and background between PPI, Jeff Wright, and Consolidated Assurance. In paragraph 17 of the Counterclaim, PPI alleges:

On or about May 2, 2013, [PPI] entered into an agency contract with 5Star, by which [PPI] became an agent and marketing organization of 5Star under the hierarchy of Jeff Wright and as the exclusive “upline hierarchy” for all “Consolidated” agents except the principals. [PPI]’s agents were entitled to sell life insurance for 5Star, and [PPI] was entitled to receive a portion of the commissions on those sales from 5Star.

In paragraph 18 of the Counterclaim, PPI alleges, “The 5Star agency contract repeatedly refers to these agents as ‘Your agents’ – the agents of [PPI].”

The next several paragraphs recite how PPI fulfilled its obligations under the contract between PPI and 5Star. In paragraph 22 of the Counterclaim, PPI alleges: “[PPI] was entitled to receive commissions on sales made by agents placed under Consolidated, persons under [PPI] in the [PPI]’s sales hierarchy for 5Star.” In paragraph 26 of the Counterclaim, PPI alleges: “[PPI] required that the principals of Consolidated would remain outside the [PPI]’s hierarchy, but all agents under them and/or recruited by them

and or [PPI] from that time forward would be placed under [PPI]'s hierarchy. Accordingly, Wright and . . . 5Star, moved all agents, existing and new, to [PPI]'s hierarchy.”

The Counterclaim then recites the terms of the agreement between PPI and Wright, who was 5Star's Regional Director.¹ One of the most important terms was set out in an email in which Wright promised PPI:

Also, to confirm what we discussed, no one in my organization including myself will ever market to, or contact any of your downline agents **nor will we modify or change hierarchies or commissions unless under your direction** or giving you notice of comp changes that may come from the company itself.

Counterclaim, par. 28 (emphasis added). In the next paragraph, PPI alleges that 5Star was aware of this contractual promise, and pursuant to that arrangement, PPI was placed in Wright's Regional Director hierarchy above all Consolidated's agents or producers.

Paragraph 30 of the Counterclaim alleges that Consolidated received a commission on the sales made by the producers under Consolidated and PPI in the hierarchy of approximately 50-60%;² PPI received 5%; and upon information and belief, Wright also received a percentage.

Paragraph 31 of the Counterclaim alleges:

Upon information and belief, at the request of Consolidated, Wright and 5Star, all Consolidated agents or producers (except the three principals) were placed in [PPI]'s hierarchy or downline. [PPI] had no capacity to cause this to happen; **it required the action of Consolidated, Wright and 5Star.**

Id. (emphasis added)

Paragraphs 32-34 describe how PPI fulfilled its contractual duties, so that PPI's 5% contractual commission was approximately \$300,000.00 - \$400,000 per year.

¹ Wright was an independent contractor, not an employee.

² This amount is over and above the agent's commission.

Paragraph 35 alleges, that “Wright promised [PPI] that the agents recruited under this program would belong to [PPI] unless transferred/released by written consent of [PPI].”

Paragraph 36 alleges that the 5Star “contract does not specifically reserve any power for [5Star] to remove an agent from [PPI]. [5Star] told [PPI] verbally that the RD [Jeff Wright] traditionally has been granted this authority, but this provision does not appear in the contract provided to [PPI]. Further, the RD, Wright, yielded this alleged privilege to [PPI] in order to consummate the agreement with [PPI].”

Paragraphs 37 - 43 describe how PPI fulfilled its contractual duties over the next several months and years.

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